











Synthetic Turf

Version	Date of issue	Author	Comments
1	04/11/2024	Rumana Hossain	First Draft
2	21/11/2024	Rumana Hossain	Draft Revised
3	26/11/2024	Dixit Prasher	Formatting
4	27/11/2024	Rumana Hossain	Draft Revised
5	03/12/2024	Rumana Hossain	Draft Revised

Acknowledgement of Country

The Sustainable Communities and Waste Hub acknowledges all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Traditional Custodians of Country and recognises their continuing connection to land, sea, culture, and community. We pay our respects to Elders past, present, and emerging. We support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their aspirations to maintain, protect and manage their culture, language, land and sea Country and heritage.

Acknowledgement of Funding

The Sustainable Communities and Waste Hub is funded by the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Program.

Metadata Information		
DOI		
Tags		Synthetic Turf
	Name	Rumana Hossain, Anirban Ghose, Veena Sahajwalla
Original Author	Role	Various
	Affiliation	Sustainable Communities & Waste Hub, SMaRT Centre UNSW Sydney
Creation Date		21 November 2024
Document type		Report
Document Stan	dard	
Domain-relevai standard	nt community	
Data Usage License		This report is published under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 (CC BY 4.0) licence.
Data Access Pi	rocedure	Contact Anirban Ghose, a.ghose@unsw.edu.au, for further information
Related Docum	ent(s)	
Related Document PID(s)		
Does this document include Indigenous data?		This document does not include any Indigenous Data
Project ID		IP2.02.01 – Understanding Microplastics
Corresponding Grant Milestones		RP2024 Milestone 6

Executive Summary

This report delves into different dimensions of synthetic turf, tracing its historical evolution, evaluating its current application and critically assessing its environmental, health and lifestyle impacts. Originating in the 1960s as a solution to maintaining natural grass in indoor sports facilities, synthetic turf has evolved significantly, progressing through three distinct generations. Each iteration introduced technological improvements aimed at enhancing durability, playability, and safety, while increasingly emulating the look and feel of natural grass.

The report provides an in-depth comparison between synthetic turf and natural grass, analyzing parameters such as installation and maintenance costs, hydrological characteristics, durability, aesthetic appeal and environmental adaptability. While synthetic turf offers advantages like high durability, consistent performance across diverse climates, and reduced maintenance requirements, it also presents challenges. These include higher initial installation costs, elevated surface temperatures, limited recyclability, and potential health and environmental risks from its components.

A critical focus of the report is the environmental footprint of synthetic turf systems, with key concerns including the leaching of heavy metals and polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)., microplastics pollution from infill materials and fibres, and the release of volatile organic compounds (VOCs).. The urban heat island effect caused by synthetic turf's heat retention is highlighted as a pressing issue, along with its lack of ecosystem services such as carbon sequestration, biodiversity support and natural water filtration provided by natural grass.

The lifecycle analysis (LCA) offers a nuanced perspective on the trade-offs between synthetic and natural turf. Synthetic turf systems, while reducing water usage and chemical inputs during maintenance, exhibit higher greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and energy demands during manufacturing. The report emphasizes the need for sustainable innovations, including the development of biodegradable infill materials, design for disassembly, and enhanced recyclability to mitigate end-of-life disposal challenges. Recycling efforts, while promising, face hurdles due to the complex multi-layered composition of synthetic turf, which complicates material separation and recovery.

Regulatory frameworks across key regions, including the European Union, the United States. And Australia, are analyzed, revealing diverse approaches to addressing the risks associated with synthetic turf. The EU stands out with its stringent regulations on microplastics, heavy metals and PAHs, while the U.S. and Australia exhibit gaps in policy enforcements and research. Initiatives such as product stewardship schemes and extended producer responsibility (EPR) are recommended to encourage sustainable practices and circular economy integration.

Emerging opportunities in the synthetic turf industry focus on improving environmental performance. These include advancements in eco-friendly infill alternatives, modular turf designs for easier recycling, and innovations in manufacturing processes to reduce carbon footprints. Furthermore, the report underscores the importance of ongoing research to assess long-term environmental impacts, particularly concerning microplastics, PAHs, and other contaminants.

In conclusion, this report offers a holistic view of synthetic turf as both an engineering achievement and an environmental challenge. It highlights the need for a balanced approach that integrates technological innovation, regulatory oversight, and collaborative stakeholder efforts to maximize the benefits of synthetic turf while minimizing its ecological footprint. This

comprehensive analysis aims to inform Providing actionable insights for advan	n decision-makers, industry leaders, and researchers. noing sustainable practices in the synthetic turf sector.

Contents

Executive Summary	3
Contents	5
List of Tables	6
1. Introduction	7
1.1. Global Status and Market Trend	9
1.2. Scenario of Synthetic Turf in Australia	10
2. Components and Types of Synthetic Turf	10
2.1. Turf Fiber Materials	12
3. Behavior of materials in Synthetic turf	13
3.1. Heavy metals	13
3.2. Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)	14
3.3. Polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)	14
3.4. Microplastics	15
4. Impact of Synthetic Turf in Environment	15
4.1. Air Quality Impacts	15
4.2. Water Resource Impacts	16
4.3. Soil and Ecosystem Impacts	17
4.4. Microplastic Pollution	17
4.5. Carbon Footprint and Life Cycle Considerations	17
5. Impacts of Synthetic Turf in Human	18
5.1. Aspects of Health Impact in Human	18
6. End-of-life (EOL) Management and Sustainability of Synthetic Turf	20
6.1. EOL Management	20
6.2. Life Cycle Assessment	22
7. Current State of Regulations on Synthetic Turf	23
7.1. European Union	23
7.2. United Kingdon	24
7.3. USA	24
7.4. Australia	25
References	26

List of Tables

Table 1 Comparative Analysis of Natural Grass and Synthetic Turf	07
Table 2 Composition of materials used in Synthetic Turf [24]	11
Table 2 Comparison of Different Types of Synthetic Grass Fibre	12
Table 4 DIN 180.5-7 Standard Limit for Heavy Metals in Synthetic Turf [35]	13
Table 5 PAHs of concern from tires for US EPA and EU [30, 32]	14
Table 6 Classification of Health Impact on Human from Synthetic Turf	19
Table 7 Different Materials Used in Current Generation of Synthetic Turf and their	20
End-of-life management pathways X	
Table 8 Circular Economy Strategies for Synthetic Turf	22

1. Introduction

The advent of synthetic turf in the 1960s marked a significant paradigm shift in the landscape of sports surfaces and urban greenery. The innovative technology, initially developed as a solution to the challenges of maintaining natural grass in indoor stadiums, has since evolved into a complex and multifaceted industry with far-reaching implications for sports, urban planning, and environmental management [1, 2].

The journey of synthetic turf can be traced back to 1962, when Monsanto, developed Chem Grass, a short-fiber, dense nylon carpet to replace urban schoolyard concrete. Its first installation in a major sporting venue was at the Houston Astrodome in 1966, an event that gave birth to the now-iconic "AstroTurf" brand. This first-generation synthetic turf, characterized by short plastic fibers without infill, represented a rudimentary attempt to replicate the visual aesthetics of natural grass. However, its hard surface and lack of shock absorption properties soon became apparent limitations, prompting further technological advancements, such as use of a closed-cell, elastomeric foam pad between the compacted soil and carpet to closely mimic natural turf [3], implemented in Houston Astrodome. The evolutionary trend of synthetic turf has been marked by distinct generational improvements. The second generation, introduced in the 1980s, incorporated sand infill between the fibers, a modification that significantly enhanced the turf's stability and playability. This innovation led to wider adoption in sports facilities, although concerns regarding player safety and performance persisted. [4]. The emergence of third-generation synthetic turf started in the late 1990s when a technological leap characterized by longer fibers and the introduction of rubber infill was used with sand. The design innovation substantially improved the shock absorption and playing characteristics, more closely approximating the biomechanical properties of natural grass. [4].

Synthetic turf is increasingly regarded as a viable substitute for natural grass playing surfaces, particularly in environments where the growing and maintenance of natural grass is impractical, or costs are prohibitively too high. However, both natural grass and Synthetic turf have distinct advantages and disadvantages, which are crucial to consider when selecting an appropriate surface. The table provides a detailed comparison of each option.

Table 1: Comparative Analysis of Natural Grass and Synthetic Turf: Performance Characteristics, Environmental Impacts, and Sustainability Considerations

Parameter	Natural Grass	Synthetic Turf	Ref
Installation and	Low initial installation cost.	High upfront installation cost.	[5]
Maintenance Cost	High annual maintenance	Lower annual maintenance	
	expense due to water,	expenses. Cost-effectiveness	
	fertilizer, and labour	increases with usage	
	requirements	frequency.	
Aesthetic	Visually appealing with	Maintains consistent	[5]
Properties	natural odor, requires	appearance year-round.	
	consistent maintenance for	Potential for color fading and	
	optimal appearance	rubber odour emission under	
		high temperatures	
Durability and	Limited wear resistance;	High wear resistance.	[6]
Usage Capacity	requires recovery periods.	Minimal recovery time	
	Typical usage: 20	needed. Can sustain up to	
	hours/week or 680	3000 hours of annual play	
	hours/year for three seasons		

Parameter	Natural Grass	Synthetic Turf	Ref
Environmental Adaptability	Growth limitations in extreme climates (arid or cold); challenging in low-light conditions	Versatile installation in diverse environments, including indoor facilities	[7]
Hydrological Characteristics	Susceptible to waterlogging; natural water filtration and groundwater recharge	Excellent drainage due to porous structure and engineered systems; immediate usability post-precipitation	[8]
Water Conservation	High irrigation demands	Minimal irrigation requirements; occasional watering for surface cooling and cleaning	[8]
Maintenance Requirements	Regular mowing, fertilization, and pest control; utilize fossil fuels and chemicals	Periodic sanitation, raking, and vacuuming; eliminate need for chemical treatments.	[5]
Player Safety Considerations	Established safety profile; potential hazards from uneven surfaces or animal activity	Comparable safety to natural grass; consistent surface reduces certain injury risks	[4, 9]
Environmental Impact	Carbon sequestration capabilities; supports biodiversity; emits biogenic VOCs	Potential environmental concerns; raw material consumption, elevated surface temperatures (up to 20°C higher than natural grass), GHG emissions from production and transport	[10, 11]
Life Cycle Considerations	Indefinite Lifespan with proper maintenance	Typical lifespan of 8-10 years; end-of-life disposal challenges due to limited recyclability.	[12]

Environmental considerations have become increasingly paramount in Synthetic turf development, particularly its infill material. Tire crumb rubber, a common infill material, has been found to contain a range of organic contaminants and heavy metals that can potentially volatile into the air and leach into percolating rainwater. [13, 14]. Research has examined the potential release of contaminants from turf components, such as zinc from recycled tire rubber, and the effectiveness of various testing methods for assessing environmental risks. [14]. A comparative assessment of chemical contents in various infill materials revealed that while no infill material was entirely free of concerns, several alternatives are likely to be somewhat safer than tire crumb. [13].

Environmental and health risk assessments have shown mixed results. Some studies indicate that the concentrations of volatile and semi-volatile organic compounds in the air Synthetic turf fields were typically not higher than the local background levels and the concentrations of heavy metals and organic contaminants in field drainages were generally below regulatory limits. [15]. However, recent research has identified the presence of environmentally persistent free radicals (EPFRs) in crumb rubber particles in the ambient air surrounding Synthetic turf fields with concentrations increasing with the operating years of the fields. [16]. This finding introduces a new pathway of human exposure to crumb rubber with EPFRs, potentially increasing health risks.

Life cycle assessments suggest that the environmental impacts of Synthetic turf fields may be lower than equivalent grass fields in some aspects. [15]. However, the potential release

of microplastics from Synthetic turf remains a concern, although recent studies indicate that their impact might be less significant than initially thought when compared to traditional environmental impacts [17]. This conclusion, however, may be limited by current assessment methods, that often underrepresent the complex long-term ecological, chemical, and indirect effects of microplastics, potentially underestimating their broader environmental risk. To address these environmental challenges, there is a growing focus on developing eco-friendly alternatives, such as using wood-based materials as infill and implementing more sustainable production and disposal practices for Synthetic turf systems [13, 18]. As the Synthetic turf industry continues to evolve, several challenges and opportunities emerge:

- The development of eco-friendly alternatives to traditional infill materials.
- Improving the comprehensive environmental impact evaluation of Synthetic turf systems throughout their lifecycle.
- Continuing the ongoing research to quantify and mitigate the microplastic emission from the Synthetic turf system.
- Improve the recyclability of synthetic turf components to develop closed-loop systems for material recovery.
- Addressing concerns about potential leaching of contaminants from infill materials like heavy metals and organic compounds.

This report aims to provide a comprehensive analysis of synthetic turf as a material engineering challenge, focusing on sustainability and environmental impact. It will examine the various components and materials used in synthetic turf systems, explore different types of synthetic turf, and assess their environmental impacts in detail. By synthesizing current research on material innovations, life cycle assessments, and environmental contaminations, this study seeks to contribute to the ongoing dialogue on developing sustainable and high-performance sports surfaces with minimal ecological footprint.

1.1. Global Status and Market Trend

The synthetic turf market has experienced significant growth globally, driven by various factors including environmental considerations and water conservation. Manufacturers have positioned synthetic turf as an environmentally friendly alternative to natural grass particularly due to its use of recycled materials and water-saving potential [15, 19].

One of the key environmental claims made by manufacturers is the use of recycled tire rubber in synthetic turf production. This approach addresses the significant challenge of managing the huge amount of scrap rubber tires generated annually. As per U.S. Tire Manufacturers Association's 2021 Scrap Tire Management Summary, around 32% (or 1.4 million tons) of tire crumb was generated from the total collected waste tires, which 22% was used in sports surface applications, which amounts to 0.3 million tons in 2021 alone [20].

The global synthetic turf market has been experiencing substantial growth, with market values exceeding USD 2.7 billion in 2019 with a projected CAGR of 5.2% from 2019 to 2025 [21]. China's synthetic turf production and market size are also experiencing rapid acceleration. This growth is partly attributed to the promotion of synthetic turf as a cost-effective and user-friendly alternative to natural grass, suitable for both residential lawns and sports fields.

Water conservation is another significant driver of synthetic turf adoption, particularly in arid regions. In the United States, a full-size synthetic turf sports field can save 1.9-3.8 million liters of water annually. This water-saving potential has led many water conservation institutions and city councils in dry regions of the US to offer financial incentives for replacing natural grass in residential lawns with synthetic turf [22].

1.2. Scenario of Synthetic Turf in Australia

Synthetic turf has been a part of Australia's sporting and urban environment for several decades. The history of synthetic grass in Australia dates back to the 1970s when it was first introduced for sports fields, particularly in cricket and tennis. However, its widespread adoption began in the early 2000s, driven by water scarcity concerns and the need for low-maintenance alternatives to natural grass.

In recent years, the synthetic turf market in Australia has experienced significant growth. The market size is valued at AUD 167.1 million in 2024; with a CAGR of 3.2% increase for businesses and a 2.7% decrease in market size between 2019 and 2024 [23]. This growth has been attributed to factors like:

- Increasing urbanization and the need for durable, low-maintenance landscaping solutions.
- Rising popularity of synthetic turf in sports facilities, particularly for cricket and football fields.
- Growing awareness of water conservation and sustainability practices.
- Technological advancements in synthetic turf manufacturing, leading to improved quality and performance.

The adoption of synthetic turf in Australia has been particularly notable in sports sector. Many professional sports venues, such as the Melbourne Cricket Ground and Adelaide Oval, have incorporated synthetic turf in their facilities. There has also been installation of third generation synthetic turf in soccer fields across Australia, and other outdoor sports precinct which are commonly used for Australian rules football and cricket (outfields) [24]. Additionally, local councils and schools are increasingly opting for synthetic turf in public spaces and playgrounds due to its durability and cost-effectiveness in the long run.

2. Components and Types of Synthetic Turf

Synthetic turf systems have undergone significant evolution since their inception, driven by advancement in polymer science and materials engineering, thus contemporary synthetic turf systems exhibit a complex, multi-layered structure, typically comprising primary components of grass/pile, infill material and backing system, with other layers like shock pad, performance and stabilizing infill, and extra backing layer added as per the application area.

 Synthetic grass fibers: These are predominantly manufactured from polyethylene, polypropylene, or nylon, engineered to emulate the morphological and functional attributes of natural glass blades. Recent advancements in polymer science have facilitated the development of multi-shaped fibers, enhancing durability and performance metrics.

- 2. **Backing system:** The structural foundation of the turf system typically consists of a composite mixture of polyolefins, polyamide 6, polypropylene, and/or polyurethane. This backing provides essential structural integrity (primary backing) and facilitates drainage (secondary backing).
- 3. **Infill material:** This layer serves multiple functions such as stabilization, shock absorption, and modulation of ball bounce characteristics. The infill composition varies widely, encompassing materials such as crumb rubber (often derived from recycled tires), silica sand, organic substances (such as cork and coconut husks), and thermoplastic elastomers (TPE). The selection and proportion of these materials significantly influence the turf's performance and environmental impact.

Table 2: Composition of materials used in Synthetic Turf [24]

	First Generation	Second Generation	Third Generation
Characteristics	Hard and abrasive with fibers susceptible to UV degradation	Durable fibers with better stability	Soft fibers and properties close to natural turfs
Turf Fiber	Short pile (10- 12mm) made of Polyamide (Nylon) fibers	Medium pile (20- 35mm) made of monofilament or fibrillated polypropylene fibers	Long pile (40-65 mm) made of monofilament or fibrillated polyethylene or polypropylene fibers
Infill	Unfilled	With rounded sand	Synthetic materials: styrene-butadiene-rubber, thermoplastic elastomer (TPE), Ethylene Propylene Diene Monomer (EPD) Natural materials: Sand, cork, soft oak,
Backing	Foam backing	Carper backing with drainage	Primary backing: polypropylene and polyester Secondary backing: Polyurethane and latex for anchoring
Shock Pad	None	Only present in latter stage of development	Normally included and made of foam, SBR, textile, PE, PU or PP
Base	None	None	Compacted materials: asphalt, geotextile, drainage system and levelling layer

The composition and design of synthetic turf significantly influence its performance characteristics and environmental impact. Recent research has focused on optimizing these components to enhance player safety, improve playing conditions, and replicate natural grass behavior. Studies have investigated the influence of fiber density, fiber length, infill composition, and surface compaction on rotational traction and athlete biomechanics [25],

and have been consistently evolved the design and material composition of synthetic turf to make it similar to natural turf.

2.1. Turf Fiber Materials

Synthetic turf grass fibers are generally made from two groups of polymers: polyolefin (polyethylene and polypropylene) and less common polyamide (nylon). These polymers are usually blended to enhance the properties of the grass fibers.

Polyethylene is the predominant material used in synthetic turf fibers due to its close resemblance with natural grass and requisite for minimal maintenance with occasional brushing and raking but is more susceptible to UV degradation and abrasion. Likewise, polypropylene has higher resistance to moisture but has inferior mechanical properties. Polyamide based fiber material made of nylon are also commonly used in high end applications and sports field due to its superior mechanical properties, and its ability to maintain its shape ion high temperature makes it ideal for hot environment.

Table 3: Comparison of Different Types of Synthetic Grass Fibres

Property	Polyethylene	Polypropylene	Nylon	Ref
Chemical	(C ₂ H ₄) _n	(C ₃ H ₆) _n	Nylon 6: (C ₆ H ₁₁ NO) _n	[26,
Formula			Nylon 6,6:	27]
			(C12H22N2O2)n)	
Molecular	Linear	Isotactic (high	Polyamide with high	[26,
Structure	(HDPE/LLDPE)	crystallinity)	intermolecular bonding	27]
Tensile	20-40 MPa	Lower than PE	70-80 MPa	[28]
Strength		and nylon		
Elongation at	100-600%	Limited	Very stiff	[27,
Break		elasticity		28]
UV Resistance	High with UV	Moderate (less	High	[28]
	stabilizers	stable in high		
		UV exposure)		
Melting Point	115-135°C	160-165°C	>220°C	[26,
				27]
Moisture	Very Low	Very Low	High (4-4.5%)	[28]
Absorption				
Texture	Soft, resembles	More delicate,	Stiff, more durable	[26,
	natural grass	less durable		27]
Durability	High when	Prone to heat	Highest durability and	[27]
	blended with	deformation	abrasion resistance	
	nylon			
Cost	Moderate	Least	Most expensive	[27]
		expensive		
Temperature	Less stable in	Deforms in high	Maintains shape in high	[26,
Resistance	high	temperature	temperature	27]
	temperature			
Applications	Home lawns,	Landscaping in	Sports field and high-end	[4]
	play area	low-traffic area	applications	

3. Behaviour of materials in synthetic turf

Among all the layers, infill of synthetic turf contains most material, with concentration of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and heavy metals, which have been under extensive investigation for their dissipation mechanism and its impact on environment and human health. The tire rubber crumb used in infill can degrade due to oxidation, effect of ozone, heat and sunlight (UV), effecting its physical and chemical properties, thereby releasing the content of rubber into environment [15]. Similarly, recycled (used) tires are used for tire crumb in infill, which lacks anti-degradants and waxes which inhibit degradation of tires during their lifetime, which further aids in degradation of the infill layer. Also, the higher surface area of the tire crumb provided larger exposed area to the environmental stressor, thus increasing volatilization of organic contaminants in air and leaching heavy metals and chemical contaminants into water run-off [29].

3.1. Heavy metals

Tire crumb contains several heavy metals like zinc (Zn), copper (Cu), nickel (Ni), chromium (Cr), lead (Pb), iron (Fe) and cadmium (Cd) [30], which are non-degradable and have chances of contaminating water-runoff from the turf. Studies have shown that zinc is the most common metal, comprising two-third metal concentration in synthetic turf, followed by iron, magnesium, aluminum and potassium [31]. Zinc is found in oxide form (ZnO), which is used as vulcanization activator, and iron comes from steel wires used in tires, with remaining metals used as silicates and adhesion promoter [31]. Upon further investigation, it was found crumb rubbers contains the most amount of heavy metals compared to other layers like blades, backing and geotextiles [32].

There are presence of encapsulated lead chromate pigment in earlier generation of turf blades, with higher level of lead found in turf fiber made of nylon or PE/nylon blend, with comparatively very less lead content in polyethylene only fibers [33]. In addition, there are other metals like AI (1.2-2.1 mg/g), Fe(2.7-4.0 mg/g), and Cr, Cu, Mg, Ni, Sn and Ti (within range of 0.01-1 mg/g) found in the turf fibers [34], which are introduced in coloring pigments and UV stabilizers for the aesthetic and performance enhancement. The later generation of turf blades and carpet backing have quite low presence of encapsulated lead chromate pigment (<0.001 mg/g), since same materials are used to make other polymer based consumer product [33].

DIN 18035-7, a German standard commonly used in Europe, outlines requirement for installation and maintenance of synthetic turf, provides environmental and safety guidelines, particularly release of harmful chemicals like heavy metals from synthetic turf into environment. Table 4 shows the limit for the release of heavy metals in the environment from synthetic turf, with all limits set through nitrification toxicity test [35].

Table 4: DIN 180.5-7 Standard Limit for Heavy Metals in Synthetic Turf [35]

Metal	Requirement
Lead (Pb)	≤ 0.04 mg/l
Cadmium (Cd)	≤ 0.005 mg/l
Chromium total	≤ 0.05 mg/l
Chromium VI (CrVI)	≤ 0.008 mg/l
Mercury (Hg)	≤ 0.001 mg/l
Zinc (Zn)	≤ 3.0 mg/l or ≤0.5 mg/l
Tin (Sn)	≤ 0.05 mg/l

3.2. Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)

VOCs in synthetic turfs primarily originate from the infill, specifically in the rubber crumb. These compounds are mainly derived from solvents used in the rubber conversion industry, binding agents for different rubber layers, mold-releasing agents, and tire production processes like extruding, curing press spray, and finishing paint [32]. While no specific regulations exist for VOCs in crumb rubber its water solubility and high volatility have led to regulators setting exposure limits in air, drinking water, and water ways.

Research on VOCs in crumb rubber has shown that while increased emission factors for certain semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) and VOCs such as methyl isobutyl ketone and benzothiazole occur at elevated temperature (60°C) [36, 37], the observed concentrations generally remain within safe limits and do not pose significant hazards [32]. Notably, toluene has been consistently detected in the air synthetic pitches, but it's level remains below regulated thresholds. Additionally, studies indicate that indoor synthetic turf fields tend to exhibit higher VOC concentrations compared to outdoor settings [32]. Given that synthetic turf can reach elevated temperatures in warmer climates, further investigation into the air quality above these fields is required focused on monitoring VOC emissions.

3.3. Polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)

The rubber infill in synthetic turf contains PAHs which come from highly aromatic oils added as extender oil and carbon black, which are used as reinforcement filler during production. US EPA has identified 16 different PAHs commonly found and of major concern from crumb rubber from tires. [32]. Due to this, European regulations have been restricting the use of aromatic oils since the 2000s, to reduce PAH generation from tires. [15], while carbon black use has been still unregulated, leading to PAHs generation from granulated tires used in synthetic turf.

Table 5: PAHs of concern from tires for US EPA and EU [30, 32]

PAH of C	oncern	Listed by
NAP	Naphthalene	US EPA
ACY	Acenaphthylene	US EPA
ACE	Acenaphthalene	US EPA
FLU	Fluorene	US EPA
PHN	Phenanthrene	US EPA
ANC	Antharacene	US EPA
FLA	Fluoranthene	US EPA
PYR	Pyrene	US EPA
BaA	Benzo[a]anthracene	US EPA and EU
CHY	Chrysene	US EPA and EU
BbF	Benzo[b]fluoranthene	US EPA and EU
BkF	Benzo[k]fluoranthene	US EPA and EU
BaP	Benzo[a]pyrene	US EPA and EU
IND	Indeno[1,2,3-cd]perylene	US EPA
DBahA	Dibenzo[a,h]anthracene	US EPA and EU
BghiP	Benzo[g,h,i]perylene	US EPA
BeP	Benzo[e]pyrene	EU
BjF	Benxo[j]fluranthene	EU

Recent studies have revealed important insights into the presence and concentrations of PAHs in crumb rubber infill used in synthetic turf. PAHs primarily originate from high-temperature processes during tire production, rather than from the recycling process itself, indicating that the manufacturing origin of tires is a key factor in determining PAH concentrations, rather than from the granular size or recycling methods. [32]. Notably, pile blades have been found to contain very minimal PAH content compared to rubber-infill [32]Often exhibit higher PAH levels in the surroundings compared to outdoor environments [32]. These findings highlight the complexity of PAH presence in crumb rubber infill and underscore the various factors influencing their concentrations and potential exposure risks.

3.4. Microplastics

Microplastics are solid particles of non-biodegradable plastic or rubber measuring 5 mm or less and have been a growing concern for synthetic turf systems. These particles can form unintentionally through wear and tear or be deliberately manufactured for specific purposes. Bertling et al, from their studies of synthetic turf systems in Germany and Switzerland, estimated that around 3 tonnes of performance infill gets eroded every year, with lower-density infill having a higher chance of loss. [38].

To address this issue European Standards Committee (CEN) has provided guidance for minimizing infill dispersion through improved design, operation, and maintenance procedures. [39]. These measures include physical barriers, boot cleaning stations, and drainage systems with slit traps. However, microplastic formation is not limited to infill materials. The synthetic turf filaments themselves break down over time due to UV radiation, contributing to microplastic pollution [40]. Bertling et al, observed fiber loss of 50 kg to 1 tonne per year in the same fields, though the exact mechanism of loss needs further investigation [38].

4. Impact of Synthetic Turf in Environment

4.1. Air Quality Impacts

Synthetic turf can significantly affect local air quality through two primary mechanisms:

- Chemical Emissions: Synthetic turf can dissipate certain gases including VOCs and SVOCs, concentrated in the infill layer onto the air at a higher temperature [32], with the main route of human exposure through inhalation. Likewise, off-gassing chemicals like PAHs and phthalates can be produced from new installations, which typically decreases over time [32].
- Temperature and Heat Island Effect: Synthetic turf tends to absorb and retain more heat than natural turf, contributing to the urban heat island effect [10], with studies showing at least 10- 15°C higher temperature for synthetic turf compared to natural turf [41-43]. The increased surface temperature can lead to higher ambient air temperatures in the surrounding area, potentially affecting local air quality by promoting the formation of ground-level ozone (tropospheric ozone) [44], a key component of photochemical smog in urban environments.
- Absence of biogenic air purification system: Unlike natural turf grass, synthetic turf lacks the capacity for biogenic air purification [45]. Natural grass engages in photosynthesis, consuming carbon dioxide and producing oxygen. Additionally, the leaf surface area of natural grass acts as a biofilter, trapping airborne particulates and absorbing gaseous pollutants [46]. The absence of this ecosystem may result in comparatively lower levels of air quality.

- Particulate material generation: Synthetic turf systems contribute to particulate matter (PM) in the atmosphere through two primary mechanisms: crumb rubber attrition and microplastic shedding. The mechanical breakdown of crumb rubber infill generates fine particulates. Studies have revealed that these particles can range from nanoscale to microscale dimensions, posing potential respiratory concerns [47]. Likewise, the polymer in turf blades can also release microplastic into the environment, from PM2.5 to PM10 levels making it airborne [40].
- Maintenance-related emissions: The maintenance process for synthetic turf can introduce additional air quality concerns through the use of chemical-based cleansing agents like antimicrobial treatments and cleaning agents [48]. Similarly, the use of power equipment for turf maintenance like leaf blowers, and mechanical; brushes can re-suspend settled particulates increasing the concentration of PM levels in the surroundings [48].

4.2. Water Resource Impacts

Synthetic turf can have positive impacts like less consumption of water for maintenance compared to natural turf, while also can aid in increased runoff due to its non-porous nature with an increased amount of particulate and chemical footprint in the runoff.

- Water Conservation: One of the primary benefits of synthetic turf in terms of water resources is water conservation, as it does not require regular watering, unlike natural grass. This can lead to significant water savings, especially in and/or drought-prone regions [8], with studies showing around 33 to 50% of savings (355-710 liter per sq. meter), on a per annum basis [49]. But studies have also shown that the heat island phenomenon around synthetic turf is due to its heat retention properties [41-43], a considerable amount of water is required to cool it down to make it usable for longer periods of time [49].
- Stormwater Runoff and Water Quality: The modern synthetic turf systems are
 equipped with complex drainage systems with and without pipes, and aggregate base
 composed of granulated sand. These turf systems help in stormwater management by
 delaying and storing rainfall, potentially reducing stress on stormwater networks.
 However, the hydrologic implications of synthetic turfs on runoff and infiltration are not
 well-documented [50].

Pollution through field infiltration is generally mitigated using sand infill and calcite-rich base aggregate in third-generation systems, as sand is known to be an effective filter for many pollutants while calcite can reduce zinc levels through absorption. It has been seen that 11.6% calcite composition in infill can reduce zinc concentration from 1000 μ g/L to 50 μ g/L [34]. Moreover, calcite has also shown tendency to absorb PAHs from water runoff [51]. Virgin rubber infill appears to release less zinc and total toxicants compared to used tire rubber crumb, with zinc (associated with the rubber vulcanization process) often identified as the most significant toxicant risk to aquatic ecosystems, with concentrations often exceeding freshwater ecosystems guidelines [52].

• **Groundwater Recharge and Contamination:** The impervious nature of many synthetic turf systems can reduce infiltration rates compared to natural soil, potentially decreasing groundwater recharge. A study by Cheng et al. found that synthetic turf reduced infiltration by 70% compared to natural grass [15]. However, the impact varies on the specific design and underlying drainage system of the synthetic turf installation. Metals like Zinc, which originated from rubber infill, has been reported to reach 1000

μ/liter significantly above regulatory standards [11]. Other potential contaminants include PAHs and various organic compounds. Additionally, the breakdown of the synthetic turf fibers can also release microplastics, which may infiltrate groundwater systems. There are estimations showing that 40-100 kg of microplastic can percolate to groundwater from synthetic turf each year [53].

4.3. Soil and Ecosystem Impacts

- **Soil Compaction:** The installation of synthetic turf often involves soil compaction to form a stable base. This compaction reduces soil porosity limiting the movement of air, water and nutrients, which can negatively impact soil health and reduce its ability to support plant life.
- Biodiversity Loss: Natural grass supports a diverse ecosystem of microorganisms, insects and other organisms that contribute to soil health. Synthetic turf, however, creates a barrier that disrupts this ecosystem, leading to a decline in soil diversity. Likewise, the leaching of several organic chemical, heavy metals and plasticizers can leach into soil over time, contaminating the soil gradually and harming plants and organisms.
- Nutrition Depletion: The presence of an impervious synthetic layer and absence of natural grass, which contributes to organic matter to the soil can lead to nutrient depletion over time. Likewise, the unnatural water runoff and infiltration mechanism due to synthetic fiber leads to soil erosion and nutrient depletion.

4.4. Microplastic Pollution

Microplastic from synthetic turf can be transported to surrounding soil and water systems through surface runoff, drainage systems and direct dispersion. Once dispersed, microplastics can accumulate in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. They can be ingested by soil organisms and aquatic life, leading to potential bioaccumulation and biomagnification in food chain. These microplastic often act as carriers for PAHs and heavy metals, leading to embedment of these elements in bio-system, which can lead to physical blockages, reduced feeding and exposure to toxic chemicals. The long-term ecological impacts include potential disruptions to food webs and ecosystem functions.

4.5. Carbon Footprint and Life Cycle Considerations

- Manufacturing Phase: The production of synthetic turf involves the manufacturing of plastic materials and deriving crumb rubber infill often from used tires, which is energy intensive and generates substantial greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions [14]. The primary materials used such as polyethylene and polypropylene are derived from fossil fuels, contributing to the carbon footprint. Similar, pattern has been observed through comparative LCA analysis between synthetic and natural turf, where higher energy consumption is forecasted with significantly more GHGs production for synthetic turf [54].
- End-of-life Disposal: The disposal of synthetic turf poses significant environmental challenges. The materials used in synthetic turf are not biodegradable, leading to a long-term environmental persistence, and with average lifespan of 8-10 years,

synthetic turf contributes significantly to landfill waste [14]. There has been few approaches to divert the EOL synthetic turf for recycling, but the complex multilayered components of the synthetic turf system is posing as a major challenge to overcome for efficient resource recovery [55].

5. Impacts of Synthetic Turf in Human

Synthetic turf fields have raised concerns due to the presence of toxic and carcinogenic chemicals. These pollutants can potentially be released into the environment, posing health risks to users through various exposure pathways such as inhalation, dermal uptake, and ingestion. This section discusses the potential health impacts, supported by various studies and assessments.

- Inhalation: Inhalation of VOCs, SVOCs, and particulate matter from tire rubber crumbs is a primary exposure pathway. Field assessments have revealed low concentrations of VOCs and PAHs in the air above synthetic turf fields, generally not at levels of concern for human health [56-58]. Adequate ventilation in indoor areas with synthetic turf can mitigate health risks. Both indoor and outdoor synthetic turf have not shown increased risks from exposure to respirable particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10) [59-61]. One study indicated a potential cancer risk for professional athletes with intensive long-term exposure (5h/day, 5 days/week for 30 years), but no elevated risk for amateur or occasional users [62]. Significant health risks may occur for workers installing synthetic turf in poorly ventilated conditions over extended periods (>5 years) [59].
- Ingestion: Incidental or intentional ingestion primarily affects children through hand-in-mouth activity. The degree of exposure depends on factors such as frequency of hand-to-playground contact, field use, and chemical transfer efficiencies [15]. Multiple studies have investigated the effects of direct ingestion, with findings suggesting no significant health effects, even at varying exposure levels [63, 64]. For both adults and children, synthetic turf fields and playgrounds are generally considered to pose a low risk to human health through oral exposure. While specific ingestion rates are not provided, studies indicate that the amount ingested through typical use scenarios is unlikely to cause adverse health effects [65].
- Dermal Uptake: Toxic chemicals leached from rubber crumbs can enter the body through skin contact. Several studies have concluded that the number of toxic substances absorbed through skin contact is too small to create negative health effects, including allergies, for both adults and children [66, 67]. Biological studies monitoring biological markers (1-hydroxypyrene) showed insignificant amounts of PAH in the urine of football players after rigorous skin contact with rubber crumbs, indicating negligible uptake of PAH through the dermal pathway [68, 69]. The short contact time with rubber crumbs and the natural protection of the human body reduces the likelihood of significant dermal absorption causing health problems.

Thus, although all three pathways present potential risks, current research generally indicates low health risks for typical users of synthetic turf fields. However, ongoing studies continue to investigate potential long-term effects and emerging concerns, particularly for scenarios involving prolonged and intensive exposure.

5.1. Aspects of Health Impact in Human

In an extensive report from the Chief Scientist and Engineer from the NSW Government, the impact of synthetic turf on human health has been divided into five broad categories, incorporating direct and indirect exposure [70], as shown in Table 6.

Table 6: Classification of Health Impact on Human from Synthetic Turf

Classification	Description	Impact Method
Physical Injury	Synthetic material can retain heat levels that can cause burn; the hardness and abrasiveness nature of turf can cause bodily injury.	Direct
Heat-related impact	The heat retention behavior of synthetic turf causes thermal discomfort around its proximity.	Direct and Indirect
Chemical, microplastic, and microbiological health risk	Microplastic generated from synthetic turf poses significant health risks and can also be a potential breeding ground for pathogens.	Direct
Chemical leachate runoff	Leaching of chemicals and additives to soil and nearby water sources can introduce toxic elements.	Indirect
Mental and social dimensions of health	The substitution of natural turf with synthetic turf reduces the exposure of the community to natural spaces. Impacting community cohesion and mental health.	Indirect

Physical injuries from synthetic turf were common in first-generation turfs due to their hard and more abrasive surface, leading to frequent knee injury and skin abrasion [71]. These impacts have been vastly mitigated in newer-generation turf, where the blades and surface are designed to mimic natural turf, providing users with comfortable playable surfaces. However, the issue of heat retention remained due to the use of synthetic materials. At elevated temperatures, the turf surface tends to retain heat increasing the temperature of the surface to potentially leading to burns [72]. Similarly, biomechanical studies have shown that synthetic turf exerts greater rotation torque in the player shoe-surface interface, compared to natural turf [73], which alongside with hardness of the field can amplify the physical impact on the player. Likewise, during hot weather, synthetic turf can get up to 70°C [74], with studies showing cutaneous thermal injury occurring above 44°C [75].

The crumb rubber and pile blades have low albedo and low specific heat capacity, thus in the same ambient condition, synthetic turf heats significantly higher than natural turf [76, 77], and with time and continuous usage, the thermal condition of the synthetic turf deteriorates [77]. The air above synthetic turf (<15 cm) seems to have a higher air temperature (42.7°C) than natural turf (38.1°C) [76], posing a higher risk to children due to their physical stature and lower heat tolerance [78]. Similarly, the substitution of natural turf for synthetic turf also aids in the urban heat island (UHI) effect which results in 5-10°C higher air temperature at night time [79], which directly impacts young children, elderly people, and those with underlying respiratory and cardiovascular conditions [79].

The use of polymers like PP and PE in blades and crumb rubber in infill layer with polyester backing is current generation turfs containing several toxic and carcinogenic compounds like SVOCs, PAHs, VOCs, and heavy metals [15, 64]. These chemicals pose health risks through ingestion, dermal intake, and inhalation. The degradation of the synthetic material under the influence of heat, sun, and ozone exposure can also generate microplastic granules with at least half polymer content X, which is common in stormwater runoff having a

harmful impact on soil and marine life [15, 64]. The leachate from synthetic turf systems mostly contains metals like zinc and PAHs and has tendency to leach out in high levels under laboratory conditions from crumb rubber X. The metal can come in contact through a dermal path through catchment runoff or also be inhaled through PAH volatilization, or through drinking water [31, 32].

There is limited behavioral and psychological research on the substitution of natural turf for synthetic turf in an urban environment to provide the community with open spaces for recreational and communal activities. Though WHO states that the urban green space with natural flora, grasslands, trees, and wetlands helps in a range of positive health impacts the comparative study with synthetic turf is very limited [80].

6. End-of-life (EOL) Management and Sustainability of Synthetic Turf

6.1. EOL Management

Synthetic turf generally has four options for end-of-life management: reuse, landfill, incineration, and recycling. Landfill and incineration have been the most common practices due to the heterogeneous complex layering of materials and their degradation in mechanical properties due to continuous usage and exposure to natural elements [81]. Recycling of synthetic turf is carried out by separating each layer and material but has very low efficiency due to the same issue of complex constituents and layering of materials [15]. There has been commercial approach for granulation of used turf by shredding and palletization, to be used in new turf r other materials but the products have poor mechanical properties and thus only used for lower grade application (downcycling) [81].

Table 7: Different Materials Used in Current Generation of Synthetic Turf and their End-of-life management pathways X

	Materials	Manufacturing Process	EOL Management
Pile	PE, PP,	Virgin polymer mixed with UV	Landfill;
	Nylon and	stabilizers and additives are	downcycled into
	Pigments	heat-extruded into grass blades shapes	smaller pieces
Primary Backing	PP, PU	Non-woven textile to support fiber layer	Landfill
Secondary	PU, Latex	Coated layer on back of	Landfill
Backing		primary backing and perforated	
		for water sippage	
Stabilizing Infill	Silica Sand	From gravel pits, and coated	Can be reused
		with acrylic or elastomeric	
		coating	
	Styrene	Granulated rubber shredded	Recycled or
	butadiene	using mechanical or cryogenic	landfilled
	rubber (SBR)	method	
	SBR with		Recycled or
	sand		landfilled
	Materials	Manufacturing Process	EOL Management

Performance Infill	Ethylene propylene diene monomer (EPDM)	Synthesized from virgin materials in granule form; fire retardant additives can be added	Recyclable
	Thermoplastic elastomer (TPE)	Synthesized from virgin materials into various granulated shapes	Recyclable
	Organic infills (plant-based fibers)	Can be used directly with antimicrobial treatment	Biodegradable
Shock Pad	PP, PE, PU, SBR	Varied thickness, density and additives as per application area and can made from virgin or recycled materials	Can be reused upto 3 rimes for same applications
Adhesives	Isocyanate, epoxy. Urethane, latex	Solvent dissolution method from virgin materials	Often discarded during recycling or landfilled

Re-use of synthetic turf is often mistakenly called recycling. True reuse involves repurposing the turf of its components in a similar function, while recycling requires processing before reuse. Equipment like the 'turf-muncher' has made removal easier, but on-site infill removal presents challenges. Contamination with sand is a major issue for recycling and re-use. Despite manufacturers' claims, direct reuse of removed infill in new pitches is not widespread. A CalRecycle study found only 25-50% of SBR infill was reused, with the rest landfilled [82]. The lack of clear end markets and the likelihood of lower-value applications make the case for re-use unfavorable [81].

Synthetic turf recycling faces significant challenges due to material contamination and complex composition. Few recyclers can achieve high-purity material outputs, primarily because sand infill contamination is difficult to separate, and turf is composed of multiple plastics. As a result, most recycling practices follow an "open loop" approach, where materials are downcycled into lower grade applications such as road cones, rubber tiles, pallets and boxes [83]. The ultimate goal of "closed loop" recycling, which should allow forming into new turf material remains attainable due to technical constraints and the permanent bonding of different materials in turf construction [84].

Recent technological advancements, such as "hot-melt" backing show promises for improved material separation during recycling [85]. However, this technology is still unproven in practice and not yet widely used. Recycling plants in North America and Europe have faced numerous obstacles, including contamination issues, insufficient turf inputs, competition from other disposal operators, and lack of support from turf manufacturers [81]. These challenges have led to the closure of many recycling facilities. The high cost of transport and deposit, ranging from USD 10,000 to 60,000 per pitch has created significant pressure to reduce expenses [81], thereby increasing instances of illegal disposal. This situation raises concerns about the potential for increased illegal; dumping of waste turfs, a problem that is expected to worsen as the number of worn-out turfs increases in due course of time.

The disposal of synthetic turf is predominantly influenced by the prevailing waste management principles in each country. Globally, landfilling remains the primary method, especially outside Europe and in Eastern Europe [86]. Countries with significant football turf installations, such as Canada, USA, and Australia rely heavily on landfills minimal incineration, and low recycling rates [86]. In nations like Morocco and Turkey, where

unregulated dumping are common, the low disposal costs may hinder recycling efforts for synthetic turf unless specific industry incentives are implemented [81, 86]. Conversely, Western European countries have shifted towards incineration as the primary method for managing unrecycled waste, driven by landfill taxes and bans [81, 86]. Several European nations have implemented both measures, resulting in the incineration of almost all non-recycled waste. The United Kingdom has imposed one of the world's highest landfill taxes, promoting alternatives like incineration [81, 86]. Modern waste-to-energy incinerators have gate fees included in energy revenue, which can be reduced through energy sales and sometimes supported by renewable energy incentives or implicit subsidies.

6.2. Life Cycle Assessment

In a review of LCA for synthetic turf fields from a circular economy perspective, Abbas et al. [87], compared eight LCA studies with seven comparing synthetic turf to natural turf scenarios, where they found that synthetic turf generally performed better in terms of water and resource consumption, leading to reduced eutrophication and pollutant emissions during maintenance. However, synthetic turf requires higher energy consumption and generates more GHG during production, although these impacts can be mitigated by using recycled materials (like recycled tires as infill) or by using have longer usage time compared to natural turf. However, the LCA studies have often overlook the impact of VOCs, heavy metals, and PAHs from recycled tires, microplastic generation from blades and infill, the impact of UHI, and the use of chemical softeners for maintenance of the turf blades.

Natural turf, on the other hand, has lower GHG and energy requirements for production and may act as a carbon sink. Most studies did not identify significant lifecycle cost differences between synthetic and natural turf, but synthetic turf offers higher usability time and intensity of use. The LCA application to synthetic turf is limited by available data, underlying assumptions, and the need for proper EOL management. To improve LCA frameworks for synthetic turf, the authors suggest independently verifying manufacturers' claims, reviewing multiple data sets under different conditions, and collecting data on fields with similar activities and proximity. While developments in the EU should be monitored, caution is advised when translating findings to the Australian context due to differences in climate, material inputs, tire standards, and EOL infrastructures.

There have also been studies to incorporate a circular economy framework for the synthetic turf life cycle into all stages of its supply chain to make it more sustainable. outlines the key strategies for implementing a circular economy approach in the lifecycle of synthetic turf [88]. Each stage emphasizes sustainable practices, from material sourcing and design to EOL management, aimed at minimizing environmental impact and enhancing resource efficiency by adopting these strategies, stakeholders can contribute to a more sustainable future for synthetic turfs. [88].

Table 8: Circular Economy Strategies for Synthetic Turf

Stages	Key Strategies
Material Sourcing	Use of recycled materials
	 Promote industrial symbiosis
	Ensure functional recycling
	 Minimize environmental impact in manufacturing

Stages	Key Strategies
Design	Customize product for specific uses
	Design for disassembly/recycling
	 Implement modular design
	 Reduce harmful and toxic materials
Manufacturing	Use renewable energy
	Use efficient processes
	 Utilize locally sourced materials
Distribution and Sales	 Establish a material feedback loop market for synthetic materials
Consumption and Use	 Involve community in maintenance
	 Implement eco-=labelling and product information
	 Promote socially responsible consumption
Collection and	 Implement Extended Product Responsibility (EPR)
Disposal	Incentivize Recycling
	 Establish clear separation methods
	 Ensure accessible recycling logistics
Recycling and	Utilize by-products
Recovery	Implement downcycling
	 Recover materials like sand infill which can be reused
	 Convert high calorific value materials to energy
Remanufacturing	Enable partial refurbishment
	 Provide upgrading maintenance and repair services
End-of-life	Ensure sustainable EOL management

7. Current State of Regulations on Synthetic Turf

Synthetic turf has started gaining popularity across the world but the research on its potential human impact and environmental health risk has been limited with wide arrays of government policies and regulations implemented across the globe. European Union, particularly has been proactive in taking regulatory approaches to mitigate the impact of synthetic turf, where the standards are formed around direct field exposures, microplastic generation from rubber crumb infill, and concentration of heavy metals, VOCs, PAHs, and PFAS in the turf [89].

7.1. European Union

EU created a law, Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restrictions of Chemicals (REACH) that makes registration of any chemicals imported or manufactured within the EU and formed the European Chemical Agency (ECHA) to implement it [90]. REACH with its committees like Committee for Risk Assessment (RAC) and the Committee for Socio-Economic Analysis (SEAC) keeps check on the European commission regarding potential policy formation and implementation considering the chemical composition, probable environmental and human health impact, and its constituent socio-economic repercussions [91].

The EU policy has been stringent on PAH and microplastic limitation. EU has set a limit of 1 ppm for products containing rubber or plastic that can come in direct dermal contact or chances of ingestion in humans, focusing on the blade layer and excluding any layers beneath it [30, 32], as shown in

Table 3. However, extensive studies has shown that the rubber infill in synthetic turf exceeds the set limit for PAH. [64], showcasing the limitations of the EU policy. The total permissible PAH limit for all eight PAHs has been calculated to be 387 mg/kg, which was later reduced to 20 mg/kg in 2019, considering the presence of toxic elements in tire crumbs. [92]. However, there are no restrictions or policies regarding the limitation of heavy metals (zinc, lead, cadmium, and manganese) in the European Union.

Similarly, ECHA has also proposed a ban on the use of microplastic in EU market products including synthetic turf, with a transition period of 6 years [93]. There also has been a proposal to set the limit on microplastic release from the field to 7g/m² [93]. Likewise, the European Committee for Standardization, in 2020, provided a general recommendation on minimizing microplastic infill in synthetic turf through design parameters. [94]. These approaches can be seen as a positive outreach by the EU to mitigate the impact of synthetic turfs.

7.2. United Kingdon

UK Reach, established in 2020, only has limitations for PAHs on extender oil in tire manufacturing, and for products that come in direct contact with skin or oral cavity, which is translated from EU regulations [95]. There are no active microplastic regulations for synthetic turf, despite earlier concerns raised by the Environmental Agency in 2009. The UK banned microplastics in cosmetics and personal care products in 2018 [96], but has made little effort to address microplastic pollution from crumb rubber infill. Individual countries within the UK can establish their own environmental regulations if they meet UK REACH requirements. Scotland aims to uphold EU environmental standards through the UK's withdrawal from the EU.

The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) monitors worker health and safety in Great Britain but has not reported any checks or enforcement actions on chemicals in synthetic turf infill and fibers between 2007 and 2017. While the HSE has produced guides for handling synthetic turf surfaces and crumb rubber infill, these do not adequately address potential health risks from the exposure.

7.3. USA

The USA's environmental regulations for synthetic turf and crumb rubber infill are minimal at the federal level. There are no clear concentration limits for PAHs in solid products like crumb rubber, and no direct regulations for heavy metals in crumb rubber infill. The regulation of PFAS chemicals is ongoing, but it's unclear if this applies to synthetic turf. The Federal Research Action Plan on recycled tire crumbs used on playing fields and playgrounds, initiated in 2016, is the most significant federal action on this issue. [97]. The EPA has also been working on PFAS regulation, including phasing out PFOA and requiring approval for long-chain PFAS chemicals [98].

The Microbead-Free Waters Act of 2015 banned microplastics in cosmetics. [98], but there is no federal regulation of microplastics in crumb rubber infill. The lack of conclusive studies on the health effects of synthetic turf field use has hindered the development of comprehensive federal policies. Most existing policies only apply to newly installed fields, and there is an absence of mandatory testing for synthetic turf and crumb rubber products.

7.4. Australia

Australia has implemented several regulatory frameworks to address environmental and health concerns related to synthetic turf and waste management, particularly focusing on tire recycling and product stewardship. These regulations aim to promote circular economy principles and reduce the environmental impact of products throughout their lifecycle. The Australian Recycling and Waste Reduction Act 2020 provides a national framework for managing the environmental health and safety products across their lifecycle [99]. This Act introduced restrictions on the export of waste tires, including processes styrene-butadiene rubber (SBR), which came into effect at the end of 2021. The Act emphasizes product stewardship, which places responsibility on those who design, produce, sell, or use a product to minimize its environmental impact, including EOL management. It allows for voluntary, co-regulatory, and mandatory product stewardship arrangements. Extended Product responsibility (EPR) schemes, a form of product stewardship, place primary responsibility on product producers and importers.

A relevant initiative is the Tire Product Stewardship Scheme, a voluntary, Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) authorized industry framework [100]. This scheme aims to reduce the impacts of EOL tires, which are often used in the production of crumb rubber for synthetic turf. Australia currently lacks import standards for tires, leading to uncertainty about the composition of materials in imported tires. This uncertainty has prompted some councils to import SBR crumb, which is known to contain PAHs and heavy metals. Tire Stewardship Australia (TSA) is currently focusing on chemical and physical testing of tires to understand their composition and identify contaminants of concern [100].

The stagewise effort being carried out by the state government and the responsible bodies in Australia are limited where independent reports and guidelines are being drafted in accordance with the impact of synthetic turf and its control. NSW Chief Scientist conducted an independent review in collaboration with stakeholders ranging from local councils, and universities [70], which has been well received by the state government. This comprehensive independent review highlights the concerns of toxic chemicals in rubber infills and has called for more research and regulations. Similarly, (DPHI) has released draft guidelines for the use of synthetic turf in playing fields, as a follow-up to the NSW Chief Scientist independent report. This report aims to assist planners with information and case studies regarding the installation of synthetic turf and its probable impact on the environment and human health. [101].

References

- [1] S. DIxon, P. Fleming, I. James, and M. Carré, "The Science and Engineering of Sport Surfaces," S. DIxon, P. Fleming, I. James, and M. Carré Eds., 1st Edition ed. London: Taylor & Francis, 2015, ch. 1, p. 220.
- P. Fleming, "Artificial turf systems for sport surfaces: current knowledge and research needs," *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part P: Journal of Sports Engineering and Technology*, vol. 225, no. 2, pp. 43-63, 2011/06/01 2011, doi: 10.1177/1754337111401688.
- [3] J. R. Whitehurst, "The Astrodome turf and lower extremity injuries," (in en), *Journal of the American College Health Association*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 136-137, 1968.
- [4] J. R. Jastifer *et al.*, "Synthetic Turf: History, Design, Maintenance, and Athlete Safety," *Sports Health*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 84-90, 2019/01/01 2018, doi: 10.1177/1941738118793378.
- [5] P. Sharma, P. Fleming, S. Forrester, and J. Gunn, "Maintenance of Artificial Turf Putting Research into Practice," *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 147, pp. 830-835, 2016/01/01/2016, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2016.06.298.
- [6] S. A. Brown, J. M. Lardie, J. A. Melaro, K. H. Dickson, J. C. Sorochan, and J. T. Weinhandl, "Tibial acceleration peaks and integrals on three different surfaces during M-Drill," *Footwear Science*, vol. 15, pp. S134 S135, 2023.
- [7] C. K. Meyer, R. B. Strong, J. A. Geerts, and D. M. Bennett, ""Grass" By Any Other Name Xeriscaping And Sustainability," 2014.
- [8] C. Russo, G. M. Cappelletti, and G. M. Nicoletti, "The product environmental footprint approach to compare the environmental performances of artificial and natural turf," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, vol. 95, p. 106800, 2022/07/01/ 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2022.106800.
- [9] M. C. Meyers, "Incidence, Mechanisms, and Severity of Game-Related College Football Injuries on FieldTurf versus Natural Grass: A 3-Year Prospective Study," *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 687-697, 2010/04/01 2010, doi: 10.1177/0363546509352464.
- [10] C. Y. Jim, "Intense summer heat fluxes in artificial turf harm people and environment," *Landscape and Urban Planning*, vol. 157, pp. 561-576, 2017/01/01/ 2017, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.09.012.
- [11] J. Zhang, I.-K. Han, L. Zhang, and W. Crain, "Hazardous chemicals in synthetic turf materials and their bioaccessibility in digestive fluids," *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 600-607, 2008/11/01 2008, doi: 10.1038/jes.2008.55.
- [12] L. Zeilerbauer *et al.*, "Quantifying the Sustainability of Football (Soccer) Pitches: A Comparison of Artificial and Natural Turf Pitches with a Focus on Microplastics and Their Environmental Impacts," *Sustainability*, 2024.
- [13] R. Massey, L. Pollard, M. Jacobs, J. Onasch, and H. Harari, "Artificial Turf Infill: A Comparative Assessment of Chemical Contents," *NEW SOLUTIONS: A Journal of Environmental and Occupational Health Policy*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 10-26, 2020/05/01 2020, doi: 10.1177/1048291120906206.
- [14] S. M. Bø, R. A. Bohne, and J. Lohne, "Environmental impacts of artificial turf: a scoping review," *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 2024.
- [15] H. Cheng, Y. Hu, and M. Reinhard, "Environmental and Health Impacts of Artificial Turf: A Review," *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 2114-2129, 2014/02/18 2014, doi: 10.1021/es4044193.
- [16] Q. e. Huang, J. Wang, J. Wang, D. Yu, Y. Zhan, and Z. Liu, "Emerging Health Risks of Crumb Rubber: Inhalation of Environmentally Persistent Free Radicals via Saliva During Artificial Turf Activities," *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 57, no. 50, pp. 21005-21015, 2023/12/19 2023, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.3c03278.
- [17] L. Zeilerbauer *et al.*, "Quantifying the Sustainability of Football (Soccer) Pitches: A Comparison of Artificial and Natural Turf Pitches with a Focus on Microplastics and Their Environmental Impacts," *Sustainability*, vol. 16, no. 8, doi: 10.3390/su16083487.

- [18] K. Yadav and G. C. Nikalje, "Comprehensive analysis of bioplastics: life cycle assessment, waste management, biodiversity impact, and sustainable mitigation strategies," *PeerJ*, vol. 12, p. e18013, 2024/09/11 2024, doi: 10.7717/peerj.18013.
- [19] N. Lopez-Galvez *et al.*, "Quantification and Analysis of Micro-Level Activities Data from Children Aged 1–12 Years Old for Use in the Assessments of Exposure to Recycled Tire on Turf and Playgrounds," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 19, no. 4, doi: 10.3390/ijerph19042483.
- [20] "2021 US Scrap Tire Management Summary," U.S Tire Manufacturers Association, Online, 25 October 2022 USTMA, vol. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.ustires.org/sites/default/files/21%20US%20Scrap%20Tire%20Management%20 Report% 20101722.pdf
- [21] "Artificial Turf Market Size, Share & Trends Analysis Report," Grabd View Research, Online, Market Segment Forecast GVR-3-68038-667-7, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/artificial-turf-market
- [22] S. Pincetl *et al.*, "Evaluating the effects of turf-replacement programs in Los Angeles," *Landscape and Urban Planning*, vol. 185, pp. 210-221, 2019/05/01/ 2019, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.01.011.
- [23] I. Duane-Davis, "Artificial Grass Turf Installation in Australia Market Research Report (2014-2029)," in "Artificial Grass Turf Installation in Australia Industry Analysis," IBIS World, Melbourne, Australia, 2024. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.ibisworld.com/au/industry/artificial-grass-turf-installation/5561/
- [24] "Artificial Grass for Sport," Sport and Recreation Victoria, Department of Planning and Community Development, Melbourne, Victoria, Guide Report February 2011. [Online]. Available: https://sport.vic.gov.au/resources/artificial-grass-for-sport-guide
- [25] K. A. Severn, P. R. Fleming, and N. Dixon, "Science of synthetic turf surfaces: Player—surface interactions," *Sports Technology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 13-25, 2010/02/01 2010, doi: 10.1080/19346190.2010.504279.
- [26] P. Koczoń *et al.*, "Chemical Structures, Properties, and Applications of Selected Crude Oil-Based and Bio-Based Polymers," *Polymers*, vol. 14, no. 24, doi: 10.3390/polym14245551.
- [27] S. Dasgupta, W. B. Hammond, and W. A. Goddard, "Crystal Structures and Properties of Nylon Polymers from Theory," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 118, no. 49, pp. 12291-12301, 1996/01/01 1996, doi: 10.1021/ja944125d.
- [28] A. Ahmed Hassan, G. Ramadan El, W. Ayman Abd El, and A. Mohamed Hazem, "Mechanical and Physical Properties of PP and HDPE," *Engineering Science*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 34-42, 2019, doi: 10.11648/j.es.20190402.12.
- [29] M. Jazbec and N. Florin, "Synthetic Turf in Public Spaces –Chemical composition of materials," in "Summary Report prepared for the Office of NSW Chief Scientist & Engineer," Institute for Sustainable Futures, Online, 2022. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.chiefscientist.nsw.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0004/542263/CSE-Synthetic-Turf-Review-Final-Report.pdf
- [30] D. Armada, A. Martinez-Fernandez, M. Celeiro, T. Dagnac, and M. Llompart, "Assessment of the bioaccessibility of PAHs and other hazardous compounds present in recycled tire rubber employed in synthetic football fields," *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 857, p. 159485, 2023/01/20/ 2023, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.159485.
- [31] C. A. L. Graça *et al.*, "Presence of metals and metalloids in crumb rubber used as infill of worldwide synthetic turf pitches: Exposure and risk assessment," *Chemosphere*, vol. 299, p. 134379, 2022/07/01/ 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134379.
- [32] F. O. Gomes, M. R. Rocha, A. Alves, and N. Ratola, "A review of potentially harmful chemicals in crumb rubber used in synthetic football pitches," *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, vol. 409, p. 124998, 2021/05/05/ 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124998.
- [33] G. Van Ulirsch *et al.*, "Evaluating and Regulating Lead in Synthetic Turf," *Environmental Health Perspectives*, vol. 118, no. 10, pp. 1345-1349, 2010/10/01 2010, doi: 10.1289/ehp.1002239.

- [34] H. Cheng and M. Reinhard, "Field, Pilot, and Laboratory Studies for the Assessment of Water Quality Impacts of Artificial Turf," Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Stanford University and Santa Clara Valley Water District, San Jose, CA, 2010.
- [35] DIN V 18035-7: Sports Ground: Part 7-Synthetic Turf Areas, I. f. Sportbodentechnik, Germany, 2002.
- [36] P. M. Mayer *et al.*, "Where the rubber meets the road: Emerging environmental impacts of tire wear particles and their chemical cocktails," *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 927, p. 171153, 2024/06/01/2024, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2024.171153.
- [37] EPA/ORD and CDC/ATSDR, "Synthetic Turf Field Recycled Tire Crumb Rubber Research Under the Federal Research Action Plan," in "Final Report Part 1 Tire Crumb Rubber Characterization," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry., 2019, vol. 1 and 2.
- [38] J. Bertling, B. Dresen, R. Bertling, V. Aryan, and T. Weber, *Artificial Turf Pitches System Analysis for Switzerland and Germany*. Fraunhofer UMSICHT (in en), 2021.
- [39] CEN, "Surfaces for sports areas Synthetic turf sports facilities Guidance on how to minimize infill dispersion into the environment " EUROPEAN COMMITTEE FOR STANDARDIZATION, 2020. Accessed: 19 September 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.estc.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FprCENTR-17519-Public.pdf
- [40] W. P. de Haan *et al.*, "The dark side of artificial greening: Plastic turfs as widespread pollutants of aquatic environments," *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 334, p. 122094, 2023/10/01/2023, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2023.122094.
- [41] E. R. Buskirk, E. R. McLaughlin, and J. L. Loomis, "Microclimate over Artificial Turf," *Journal of Health, Physical Education, Recreation*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 29-30, 1971/12/01 1971, doi: 10.1080/00221473.1971.10617177.
- [42] T. Aoki, "Effect of solar illuminance an albedo on surface temperature of outdoor sport surfaces," 自然と環境 = Nature and its environment, vol. 11, pp. 40-48, 2009-01 2009. [Online]. Available: https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1050010293153511424.
- [43] L. A. Petrass, D. M. Twomey, J. T. Harvey, L. Otago, and P. LeRossignol, "Comparison of surface temperatures of different synthetic turf systems and natural grass: Have advances in synthetic turf technology made a difference," *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part P: Journal of Sports Engineering and Technology,* vol. 229, no. 1, pp. 10-16, 2015/03/01 2014, doi: 10.1177/1754337114553692.
- [44] C.-J. Lin *et al.*, "Matrix Isolation Spectroscopy-A Novel Technique to Investigate Tropospheric Ozone Formation," *MACRO REVIEW*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 162-167, 2003, doi: 10.11286/jmr1988.16.162.
- [45] J. A. Monteiro, "Ecosystem services from turfgrass landscapes," *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, vol. 26, pp. 151-157, 2017/08/01/2017, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2017.04.001.
- [46] R. A. Wood, M. D. Burchett, R. Alquezar, R. L. Orwell, J. Tarran, and F. Torpy, "The Potted-Plant Microcosm Substantially Reduces Indoor Air VOC Pollution: I. Office Field-Study," *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, vol. 175, no. 1, pp. 163-180, 2006/09/01 2006, doi: 10.1007/s11270-006-9124-z.
- [47] A. N. Gent and C. T. R. Pulford, "Mechanisms of rubber abrasion," *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 943-960, 1983/03/01 1983, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/app.1983.070280304.
- [48] S. Magnusson and J. Mácsik, "Analysis of energy use and emissions of greenhouse gases, metals and organic substances from construction materials used for artificial turf," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 122, pp. 362-372, 2017/07/01/2017, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.03.007.
- [49] C. Benjamin, "Is Artificial Turf a Beneficial Water onservation Tool in the West?," Western Resource Advocates, Online, 2022. [Online]. Available:

 https://westernresourceadvocates.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/2022
 WRA_Artifical_Turf_Report.pdf
- [50] T. J. Simpson and R. A. Francis, "Artificial lawns exhibit increased runoff and decreased water retention compared to living lawns following controlled rainfall experiments," *Urban*

- Forestry & Urban Greening, vol. 63, p. 127232, 2021/08/01/2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127232.
- [51] R. Reddy Krishna, T. Xie, and S. Dastgheibi, "PAHs Removal from Urban Storm Water Runoff by Different Filter Materials," *Journal of Hazardous, Toxic, and Radioactive Waste*, vol. 18, no. 2, p. 04014008, 2014/04/01 2014, doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)HZ.2153-5515.0000222.
- [52] T. Palanisami, "Research priorities to improve our understanding of synthetic turf and its potential issue," in "Independent review into the design, use and impacts of synthetic turf in public open spaces," NSW Government and Environmental Plastics Innovation Centre (EPIC), Sydney, NSW, Appendix 9 2022.
- [53] K. Magnusson and F. Norén, "Screening of microplastic particles in and down-stream a wastewater treatment plant," 2014.
- [54] R. Itten, L. Glauser, and M. Stucki, "Life Cycle Assessment of Artificial and Natural Turf Sports Field-Executive Summary," Institute of Natural Resource Sciences, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Wädenswil, Zurich, 28/01/2021 2021, vol. 1.
- [55] R. Itten, M. Stucki, and L. Glauser, "Life cycle assessment of artificial and natural turf sports fields: executive summary," 2021.
- [56] L. Lim and R. Walker, An assessment of chemical leaching: releases to air and temperature at crumb-rubber infilled synthetic turf fields. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, 2009.
- [57] E. Denly, K. Rutkowski, and K. M. Vetrano, *A review of the potential health and safety risks from synthetic turf fields containing crumb rubber infill*. TRC--Environmental Consultants, 2008.
- [58] I. d. B. d. V. . "Study of the Incidence of Recycled Rubber from Tyres in Environment and Human Health," 2006: International Association for Sports Surface Science Technical Meeting Dresden.
- [59] T. Salthammer, "Microplastics and their Additives in the Indoor Environment," *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, vol. 61, no. 32, p. e202205713, 2022/08/08 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202205713.
- [60] A. Mohajerani *et al.*, "Environmental impacts and leachate analysis of waste rubber incorporated in construction and road materials: A review," *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 835, p. 155269, 2022/08/20/ 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155269.
- [61] L. Bai, K. Lü, Y. Shi, J. Li, Y. Wang, and G. Jiang, "Seasonal differences of organophosphate flame retardants (OPEs) in dust from plastic sports courts in Beijing, China, and implications for human exposure," *Chinese Science Bulletin*, vol. 67, no. 22, pp. 2594-2604, 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1360/TB-2022-0010.
- [62] E. Menichini *et al.*, "Artificial-turf playing fields: Contents of metals, PAHs, PCBs, PCDDs and PCDFs, inhalation exposure to PAHs and related preliminary risk assessment," *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 409, no. 23, pp. 4950-4957, 2011/11/01/2011, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.07.042.
- Y. Ren *et al.*, "Bioaccessibility and public health risk of heavy Metal(loid)s in the airborne particulate matter of four cities in northern China," *Chemosphere*, vol. 277, p. 130312, 2021/08/01/2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130312.
- [64] M. Celeiro, D. Armada, N. Ratola, T. Dagnac, J. de Boer, and M. Llompart, "Evaluation of chemicals of environmental concern in crumb rubber and water leachates from several types of synthetic turf football pitches," *Chemosphere*, vol. 270, p. 128610, 2021/05/01/ 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128610.
- [65] M. Gopalakrishnan, D. Saravanan, K. Saravanan, V. Punitha, and S. Mounika, "Sustainable Approaches for Non-apparel Textile Products Used in Sports," in *Novel Sustainable Raw Material Alternatives for the Textiles and Fashion Industry*, S. S. Muthu Ed. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland, 2023, pp. 121-137.
- [66] C. Borge, "Artificial Turf Pitches—An Assessment of Health Risks for Football Players and the Environment," *Division of Environmental Medicine, National Institute of Public Health*, 2006.

- [67] C. Vidair, R. Haas, and R. Schlag, "Evaluation of Health Effects of Recycled Waste Tires in Playground and Track Products," *Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment of California Environmental Protection Agency. Sacramento, CA*, 2007.
- [68] U. Hofstra, "Environmental and Health Risks of Rubber Infill. Rubber Crumb from Car Tyres As Infill on Synthetic Turf," ed: INTRON: The Netherlands, 2007.
- [69] J. G. M. van Rooij and F. J. Jongeneelen, "Hydroxypyrene in urine of football players after playing on artificial sports field with tire crumb infill," *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 105-110, 2010/01/01 2010, doi: 10.1007/s00420-009-0465-y.
- [70] "Independent review into the design, use and impacts of synthetic turf in public open spaces: Final report," Office of the NSW Chief Scientist & Engineer, Sydney, NSW, Independent Review Report 13 October 2022 2022. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.chiefscientist.nsw.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0004/542263/CSE-Synthetic-Turf-Review-Final-Report.pdf
- [71] J. W. Powell and M. Schootman, "A multivariate risk analysis of selected playing surfaces in the National Football League: 1980 to 1989: An epidemiologic study of knee injuries," *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 686-694, 1992/11/01 1992, doi: 10.1177/036354659202000609.
- [72] E. Denly, K. Rutkowski, and K. M. Vetrano, "A REVIEW OF THE POTENTIAL HEALTH AND SAFETY RISKS FROM SYNTHETIC TURF FIELDS CONTAINING CRUMB RUBBER INFILL" New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, New York, Review Report 2008. [Online]. Available: https://www.nyc.gov/assets/doh/downloads/pdf/eode/turf_report_05-08.pdf
- [73] G. A. Livesay, D. R. Reda, and E. A. Nauman, "Peak Torque and Rotational Stiffness Developed at the Shoe-Surface Interface: The Effect of Shoe Type and Playing Surface," *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 415-422, 2006/03/01 2006, doi: 10.1177/0363546505284182.
- [74] D. Devitt, M. Young, M. Baghzouz, and B. Bird, "SURFACE TEMPERATURE, HEAT LOADING AND SPECTRAL REFLECTANCE OF ARTIFICIAL TURFGRASS," 01/01 2007
- [75] W. Z. Harrington, B. L. Strohschein, D. Reedy, J. E. Harrington, and W. R. Schiller, "Pavement Temperature and Burns: Streets of Fire," *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 563-568, 1995/11/01/1995, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-0644(95)70005-6.
- [76] C. Y. Jim, "Solar-terrestrial radiant-energy regimes and temperature anomalies of natural and artificial turfs," *Applied Energy*, vol. 173, pp. 520-534, 2016/07/01/2016, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.04.072.
- [77] V. Villacañas, J. Sánchez-Sánchez, J. García-Unanue, J. López, and L. Gallardo, "The influence of various types of artificial turfs on football fields and their effects on the thermal profile of surfaces," *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part P: Journal of Sports Engineering and Technology*, vol. 231, no. 1, pp. 21-32, 2017/03/01 2016, doi: 10.1177/1754337115624819.
- [78] M. F. Bergeron, C. DiLaura Devore, S. G. Rice, M. Council On Sports, Fitness, and H. Council on School, "Climatic Heat Stress and Exercising Children and Adolescents," *Pediatrics*, vol. 128, no. 3, pp. e741-e747, 2011, doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-1664.
- [79] C. Heaviside, H. Macintyre, and S. Vardoulakis, "The Urban Heat Island: Implications for Health in a Changing Environment," *Current Environmental Health Reports*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 296-305, 2017/09/01 2017, doi: 10.1007/s40572-017-0150-3.
- [80] WHO, "Urban green space interventions and health: A review of impacts and effectiveness. Full report," 2017. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.who.int/europe/publications/m/item/urban-green-space-interventions-and-health-a-review-of-impacts-and-effectiveness.-full-report
- [81] "Environmental Impact Study of Artifical Football Turf," FIFA and Eunomia Research and Consulting Ltd, Zurich, Switzerland, 2017. [Online]. Available:

 https://eunomia.eco/reports/environmental-impact-study-on-artificial-football-turf/

- [82] L. Berger, "Recycling and Reuse of Crumb Rubber Infill Used in Synthetic Turf Athletic Fields," CalRecycle, 2016.
- [83] A. Davies, "Rolled up: is synthetic turf on Australian sports fields worth the environmental risk?," in *The Guardian*, ed. Australia, 2022.
- [84] L. Dunn, "Materials of Artificial Turf," in "Design Life Cycle," Online, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.designlife-cycle.com/artificialturf
- [85] R. Hufenus, C. Affolter, M. Camenzind, and F. A. Reifler, "Design and Characterization of a Bicomponent Melt-Spun Fiber Optimized for Artificial Turf Applications," *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, vol. 298, no. 6, pp. 653-663, 2013/06/01 2013, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/mame.201200088.
- [86] I. Ukpanah. "The Environmental Footprint of Arttficial Grass: Statistics and Trend." GreenMatch. https://www.greenmatch.co.uk/blog/artificial-grass-environmental-impact (accessed 10/10/2024, 2024).
- [87] E. Sanjaya, G. F. Welhs, and A. Abbas, "Environmental Impact Assessment of Synthetic Turf: A Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) Review: and Circular Economy Perspective," The University of Sydney and Chief Scientist and Engineer, NSW, Sydney, NSW, Independent Review Report Auguest 2022 2022. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.chiefscientist.nsw.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0004/542263/CSE-Synthetic-Turf-Review-Final-Report.pdf
- [88] Y. Kalmykova, M. Sadagopan, and L. Rosado, "Circular economy From review of theories and practices to development of implementation tools," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 135, pp. 190-201, 2018/08/01/2018, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.10.034.
- [89] P. Zuccaro *et al.*, "Artificial turf and crumb rubber infill: An international policy review concerning the current state of regulations," *Environmental Challenges*, vol. 9, p. 100620, 2022/12/01/ 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envc.2022.100620.
- [90] "This is ECHA." European Chemical Agency. https://echa.europa.eu/this-is-echa (accessed.
- [91] "Committee for Socio-Economic Analysis." https://echa.europa.eu/about-us/who-we-are/committee-for-socio-economic-analysis (accessed 10/10/2024.
- [92] Annex XVII to Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards polycyclic-aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in granules or mulches used as infill material in synthetic turf pitches or in loose form on playgrounds or in sport applications, C. R. (EU) 32021R1199, 2021.
- [93] "ECHA PROPOSES A RESTRICTION ON INTENTIONALLY ADDED MICROPLASTICS," in "ANNEX XV RESTRICTION REPORT," European Chemicals Agency (ECHA), 2019. [Online]. Available: https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/05bd96e3-b969-0a7c-c6d0-441182893720
- [94] E. C. F. STANDARDIZATION, "Surfaces for sports areas Synthetic turf sports facilities Guidance on how to minimize infill dispersion into the environment," EUROPEAN COMMITTEE FOR STANDARDIZATION, Online, FprCEN/TR 17519 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.estc.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/FprCENTR-17519-Public.pdf
- [95] REACH, "REACH restriction on the placing on the market and use of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the extender oils of tyres," Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restrictions of Chemicals, 2010. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.hsa.ie/eng/Your_Industry/Chemicals/Legislation_Enforcement/REACH/Restriction/EU Ban on chemicals in tyres/pah restriction guidance for industry.pdf
- [96] G. UK, "World leading microbeads ban comes to force," in *Ban on the sale of products containing microbeads comes into effect.*, ed. Online: Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2018.
- [97] ATSDR, "Federal Research Action Plan (FRAP)," Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Online, 2016. [Online]. Available:

 https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/frap/federal_research_action_plan.html#:~:text=The%20Federal%20Research%20Action%20Plan,Agency%20(EPA)%2C%20and%20the
- [98] *Microbead-Free Waters Act of 2015*, H.-E. a. Commerce, 2015.
- [99] RECYCLING AND WASTE REDUCTION ACT 2020, 119, 2020, 2024.

- [100] ACCC, "Tyre Stewardship Australia Limited," ed. Online: Australian Competition and COnsumer Commission, 2023.
- [101] DPHI, "Synthetic Turf in Public Open Space Guidelines," Department of Planning Housing and Infrsatructure, 2024. [Online]. Available:

 https://pp.planningportal.nsw.gov.au/draftplans/under-consideration/synthetic-turf-public-open-space-guidelines